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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Battle Creek Federal Center is today a complex of 31 buildings sited
on approximately 30 acres. These buildings consist of offices, pump
stations, power plant, workshops and storage buildings. Several are 50
years or older, but only one of these is worthy of National Register
status - the original Sanitarium Building (Building #2, 2A, 2B & 2C,
shaded on attached site plan). Probably the only other building in

the complex of significance is the 14 story tower addition, Building

#1. However, it was built in 1928 and is therefore not yet eligible

for nomination. This nomination involves only the Sanitarium Building.

The Sanitarium Building was designed in the manner of the ltalian Renais-

sance Revival style, popular as a facet of the Academic Classic style
in vogue at the turn of the century. Constructed in 1903, the building
was originally five stories high, but had a sixth story added to it
shortly before 1920. The main portion of the structure is 524'-4"

long and has three wings projecting from its rear or east elevation

in a fan-shaped plan configuration. The center wing projects at 90°

to the main portion resulting in the maximum building depth of 257'-9".
The two other wings project from this apex at 45°, one to the north-
east, the other to the southeast.

The structure is monumental in scale because of its large size and im-
pressive siting on a high point in the city. The front facade is pri-
marily composed of brick with decorative elements such as columns, cop-
ings and belt courses formed in stone. As originally designed, this
facade was divided into three horizontal bands. (The later sixth story
created a fourth band, although it was designed in a manner very much
in keeping with the original facade treatment and is not readily ap-
parent as an addition.)

The first floor, or base element of the facade composition, is a typical
Renaissance base embellished with horizontal recessed cuts and arched
windows with voussoired 'stones' constructed of brick. The second band
is created by the second, third and fourth stories - the height of the
six columns over the front entry. This band is less ornate, being a
flat brick surface punctuated by pairs of windows separated by flat
brick pilasters with horizontal recessed cuts. The third band is com-
prised of the fifth story and is virtually identical to those immedi-
ately below it, except over the entry. However, it is set apart from
those below by a continuous belt course. As originally designed, the
whole was then capped by another belt course and a low parapet wall.
The later added sixth story extended the parapet wall and essentially
repeated the fifth story, creating a fourth band.

The building is rather unembellished with the exception of the project-
ing entry element, which is located symmetrically in the center of the
west facade. Six columns with lonic capitals are placed over the first
floor entry and rise three stories to support a deep entablature at the
fifth story.

(continued)
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7. 2. Description - continued

The greatest exterior changes to the building were the sixth story added
just prior to 1920 and thé 14 story tower addition to the south end of
the main portion. These were accomplished by the Sanitarium. During
the course of the building's conversion into an Army hospital and later
into a Federal Office Building, little alteration was wrought upon the
exterior. Aluminum sash have been placed in some of the windows and

the arched areas over the windows have been filled by panels.

However, the interior of the building has been altered substantially.
The solarium, gymnasium and swimming pool originally housed in the
radial wings were removed. Many interior walls were relocated or re-
moved, as were all of the private bathrooms which originally accompa-
nied the guest rooms. Floor and ceiling finishes have also been great-
ly altered. The original terrazzo floors have been covered with vinyl
asbestos tile and much of the ceilings have been lowered with acousti-
cal tile ceilings. Of the two remaining ''grand' rooms, only the main
entrance is for the most part unchanged and intact. The original din-
ing room is today partitioned in half and the walls repaneled. The
original painted murals on the coved ceiling remain intact, however.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The forebearer of the Battle Creek Sanitarium began in a small white
frame cottage near the site of the present Federal Center Building.
During the next quarter century the institution was destined to be-
come world famous as the largest and most beautiful sanitarium ever
known. The facilities were comprised of a main building of 5 stories,
a hospital, 20 cottages and a lakeside resort and garden farms else-
where in the city. On February 18, 1902, an enormous fire destroyed
most of the buildings. A new buuldlng, the existing lower portion of
the Federal Center, was built on the same site for $1 million a year
later. It was designed by Frank M. Andrews, Architect, of Dayton,
Ohio. In 1928, an extravagantly appointed 14 story addltlon was com-
pleted. The sanitarium then consisted of 600 furnished guest rooms,
an oval-shaped glass enclosed solarium, a gymnasium, indoor and out-
door swimming pools, a 15,000 square foot promenade deck on the roof
of the lower building and an 8,984 square foot dining room, at the
time the largest area in the world under roof without columnar sup-
ports.

However, because of the diminishing numbers of guests with the advent
of the Depression years, the institution was p]unged into financial
crisis. In 1942, never having recovered, most of the facilities
(several structures were retained and continue to house the Battle
Creek Sanitarium a short distance to the north of the Federal Cen-
ter) were sold to the Federal Government and it was converted to

the Percy Jones General Hospital.

Extensively used during World War Il by the U.S. Army as an orthopedic
hospital, it was closed down following the termination of the War.
During the Korean War it was again opened for hospital use, but again
closed after the War. In 1954 it was converted to a Federal O0ffice
Building and is now known as the Battle Creek Federal Center.

From its beginning in 1866, the Battle Creek Sanitarium gained world-
wide prominence in the field of health and medical service. Dr. John
Harvey Kellogg, M.D., L.L.D., the Director of the Sanitarium, was a
fellow in the American College of Surgeons and member of the Royal
Academy of Science, became internationally known as an internist,
surgeon, author and inventor. It was he who named it “Sanltarlum“,

(continued)




Battle Creek Sanitarium, 1866-1966, Centennial lssue
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The Sunday News, Detroit, Michigan, April 25, 1971

Enquirer and News, Battle Creek, Michigan, February 13, 1972
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8. 2 Significance - continued

putting the word in the dictionary. It was he who put
emphasis on '"biological living" and developed new methods
of treatment for his patients and new foods for them to
eat. The cereal industry was born in the Sanitarium
kitchens for it was there that the first corn flakes were
developed by Dr. Kellogg and his brother, W.K. Kellogg.

¢ The first peanut butter was made there. It has been said
that no other institution in America had so many forms of
treatment for ailing human beings. It was among the first
medical centers to use radium in the treatment of cancer
and one of the first to install deep x-ray therapy.
Dr. Kellogg promoted water therapy, heat light and physical

therapy...all the procedures now identified as physical
medicine and rehabilitation. The institution drew an
international roster of patients. President William Howard

Taft became the 100,000th guest to register in 1911. Other
prominent patients included Henry Ford, William Jennings
Bryant, John D. Rockefeller, J.C. Penney, Luther Burbank,
Bernard Shaw, Booker T. Washington, John Burroughs, Harry
Firestone and Admiral Richard E. Byrd.

Although the building is representative of the Academic
Classic style in which it was designed, its architectural
significance is of little consequence in relation to its
major historical importance in the field of medicine.

GPO 921.724
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7. Description.
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Main Building of the Battle Creek Federal Center was built as the
Battle Creek Sanitarium in 1903. Other buildings were later constructed
so that what is now the Battle Creek Federal Center is a complex of 31
buildings on 30 acres. However, this nomination concerns only the
buildings shaded on the attached site plan (Buildings #2, 2A, 2B and 2C).

The Sanitarium Building was designed in a manner of the Italian
Renaissance Revival style, popular as a facet of the Academic Classic
style in vogue at the turn of the century. Constructed in 1903, the
building was originally five stories high, but had a sixth story added
to it shortly before 1920. The main portion of the structure is 524'-4"
long and has three wings projecting from its rear or east elevation in a
fan-shaped plan configuration. The center wing projects at 90° to the
main portion resulting in the maximum building depth of 257'-9". The
two other wings project from this apex at 45°, one to the northeast, the
other to the southeast.

The structure is monumental due to its massive size and location on a
high point in the city. The front, or west facade, consists of a
projecting central entrance portico flanked by recessed ells. The ends
of the ells (the north and south ends of the facade) break forward
slightly forming a total of fiwve bays. As originally designed, the entire
facade was divided into three horizontal bands. The sixth story addition,
completed shortly before 1920, creates a fourth band. The principal
material used is brick, with decorative elements in stone, such as the
colums of the portico, and the belt courses which create the horizontal
units. f

The base element which contains the entrance, consists of rusticated arches
composed of brick in the central bay. Extending the length of the ells.
are colonnades which have since been enclosed and converted to windows.
At-this level, the ells are in the same plane:as the entrance bays. The
second horizontal unit is composed of the second, third, and fourth stories.
In the central bay, there is a series of six engaged Ionic colums. The
wall behind them contains paired windows. The ells consist of paired
windows separated by rusticated pilaster in brick. The third horizonal
unit is the fifth story, containing five rectangular windows in the central
bay spaced between the colums of the portico below. These originally
were arched, but have since been made rectangular. In the wings, there
are plain rectangular windows separated by flat brick pilasters. The
fourth horizontal band is the newer sixth story. The windows are taller
than those of the lower stories, and in the central bay they are separated
by ornamental pilasters. These are topped with stylized triglyphs in the
frieze and a horizontal cornice. Above this the parapet rises to form a
pediment. In the wings, there is no decoration, with the exception of a
cornice below the parapet.
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7. Description - continued

The greatest exterior change to the building was the sixth story added
just prior to 1920. During the course of the building's conversion into
an Army hospital and later into a Federal Office Building, little
alteration was wrought upon the exterior.

However, the interior of the building has been altered substantially.
The solarium, gymnasium and swimming pool originally housed in the
radial wings have been removed. Many interior walls were relocated or
removed, as were all of the private bathrooms which originally accompanied
the guest rooms. Floor and ceiling finishes have also been greatly
altered. The original terrazzo floors have been covered with vinyl
abestos tile and many of the ceilings have been lowered with acoustical
tiles. Of the two remaining "grand" rooms, only the main entrance is
for the most part unchanged and intact. The original dining room is
today partitioned in half and the walls repaneled. The original painted
murals on the coved ceiling remain intact, however.

GPO 921-724
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The forebearer of the Battle Creek Sanitarium began in a small white frame
cottage in 1866 near the site of the present Federal Center. During the
next quarter century the institution was:destined to become world famous
as the largest and most beautifil sanitarium ever known. The facilities
were comprised of a main building of 5 stories, a hospital, 20 cottages,
and a lakeside resort and garden farms elsewhere in the city. On
February 18, 1902, an enormous fire destroyed most of the buildings. A
new building, the existing lower portion of the Federal Center, was built
on the same site for $1 million a year later. It was designed by Frank H.
Andrews, Architect, of Dayton, Ohio.

However, because of the diminishing numbers of guests with the advent

of the Depression years, the institution was plunged into financial crisis.
In 1942, never having recovered, most of the facilities (several structures
were retained and continue to house the Battle Creek Sanitarium a 'short: -
distance to the north of the Federal Center) were sold to the Federal
Government and it was converted to the Percy Jones General Hospital.

Extensively: used during World War II by the U. S. Army as an:iorthopedic
hospital, it was closed down following the termination of the War. During
the Korean War it was again opened for hospital use, but again closed after
the cessation of hostilities. In 1954 it was converted to a Federal Office
Building and the entire complex is now known as the Battle Creek Federal
Center.

From its beginning, the Battle Creek Sanitarium gained world wide prominence
in the field of health and medical service. Dr. John Harvey Kellogg, M.D.
L.L.D., the Director of the Sanitarium, was a Fellow of the American College
of Surgeons and a member of the Royal Academy of Science. He became
internationally known as an internist, surgeon, author and inventor. It
was he who named it "Sanitarium", putting the word in the dictionary. He
also put emphasis on "biologic living" and developed new methods of treat-
ment for his patients and new foods. Dr. Kellogg recommended a vegetarian
diet and abstinence from tobacco, alcohol, and patent medicines. As an out-
growth of this philosophy, in 1894 Dr. Kellogg developed the first corn
flakes in the kitchen of the old Sanitarium Building which burned in 1902.
This eventually spawned the cereal industry in the city. It has been said
that no other institution in America had so many forms of treatment for
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nominate this property to the National Register, certify-
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mended level of significance is
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(July 1969) NATIONAL PARK SERVICE Michigan

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES [coovTy -
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM i

FOR NPS USE ONLY

ENTRY NUMBER DATE

(Continuation Sheet) WL 3

(Number all entries)

8. Significance - continued.

ailing human beings. It was among the first medical centers to use
radium in the treatment of cancer and one of the first to install deep
x-ray therapy. Dr. Kellogg promoted water therapy, heat light and
physical therapy . . . all the procedures now identified as physical
medicine and rehabilitation. The institution drew an international
roster of patients. President William Howard Taft became the 100,000th
guest to register in 1911. Other prominent patients included Henry Ford,
William Jennings Bryan, John D. Rockefeller, J. C. Penney, Luther Burbank,
Bernard Shaw, Booker T. Washington, John Burroughs, Harry Firestone,
Admiral Richard E. Byrd, and C.W. Barron.

Although the building is representative of the Academic Classic style
in which it was designed, its architectural significance is of little
consequence in relation to its major historic importance in the field
of medicine.
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FORM 10-301 A

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

b NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
PRQPERTYPHOTOGRAPHFORM
(Type all entries - attach to or en close with photograph)
1. NAME
COMMON AND/OR HISTORIC NUMERIC CODE (Assigned by NPS)
0
Federal Center Battle Creek Sanitarium JuL 3 ° 1974
2. LOCATION .
STATE COUNTY TOWN
Michigan Calhoun Battle Creek
STREET AND NUMBER
74 North Washington Street
3. PHOTO REFERENCE
PHQTO CREDIT DATE NEGATIVE FILED AT
BRRXNBXXHXNEX KX EXXREXK
Johnson, Johnson & Roy, Inc. April 1973 AKX AX R X XML KGR 48 b

4. IDENTIFICATION

DESCRIBE VIEW, DIRECTION, ETC.
(3]

View from the southwest

of 1903 building.
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Form No. 10-301

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
Rev. 7-72

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
PROPERTY MAP FORM

(Type all entries - attach to or enclose with map)

STATE

Michigan

COUNTY

Calhoun

FOR NPS USE ONLY
ENTRY NUMBER

DATE

301974

common:  Federal Center, Main Building

AND/OR HISTORIC: Battle Creek Sanitarium

STREET AND NUM BER:

74 North Washington Street

CITY OR TOWN:

Battle Creek
STATE: CODE [COUNTY: CODE
Michigan 26 Calhoun 025
e A
USGS 7.5 Minute Services SW/4 Battle Creek 15' e
scaLe: 1:24000 /):\,\V’N/ o\
baTE ALY PRrp N

1. Property broundaries where required.
2. North arrow.

3. Latitude and longitude reference.
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Form 10-301 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
(July 1968) NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
PROPERTY MAP FORM
(Type all entries - attach to or enclose with map)
1. NAME
COMMON AND/OR HISTORIC

Federal Center

Battle Creek Sanitari

NUMERIC CODE (Assigned by.ﬁ]PLS)

3 0 1994

im

2. LOCATION

STATE
Michigan

COUNTY
Calhoun

TOWN

Battle Creek

STREET AND NUMBER

74 North Washington Street

3. MAP REFERENCE

SOURCE
Building Manager

DATE

9 February 1971

SCALE

1120

REQUIREMENTS: PROPERTY BOUNDARIES, WHERE REQUIRED, AND NORTH ARROW;
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ANo/oR HisToRic:  Battle Creek Sanitarium
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74 North Washington Street
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STATE: CODE |COUNTY: CODE
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ENTRIES IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER

Date Entered

Name

l Federal Center, Main Bullding

Lovell-lebber House

STATE MICHIGAN
JuL 30 994
Location
Battle Creek
Calhoun County
Ionia
Ionia County

Also Notified

Hon, Philip A. Hart

Hon., Robert P. Griffin
Hon, Garry Brown

Hon., Richard Vander Veen

Mr. Stevem Ruttembaum, GSA
Regional Director, Midwest Region

‘ PR MMott/row

8/6/74

State Historic Preservation Officer
Mr. Samuel Milstein

Deputy Director, Recreation

Dept. of Natural Resources

Mason Building

Lansing, Michigan 48926
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